NO. 48138-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CURTIS SMITH,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

The Honorable David Edwards, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when it denied the appellant's request for a lesser included offense instruction for fourth degree assault.
- 2. The State failed to establish that a golf club, as used, was a "deadly weapon."
- 3. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove each element of assault in the second degree beyond a reasonable doubt, depriving the appellant of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 4. The appellant was denied a fair trial when a deputy sheriff testifying on behalf of the state expressed his opinion regarding the credibility of the complaining witness.
- 5. The deputy prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct by eliciting testimony from an officer witness as to the credibility of the state's key witness.
- 6. The deputy prosecutor committed misconduct during rebuttal argument and thereby denied Mr. Smith a fair trial.
- 7. The appellant was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to the testimony from an officer witness as to the credibility of the state's key witness and where defense counsel failed to object to the State's impermissible shifting of the burden of proof during closing argument.

8. Cumulative error deprived Mr. Smith the due process right to a fair trial he was guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant Curtis Smith was charged with second degree assault for allegedly committing an assault with a deadly weapon. The alleged deadly weapon was a golf club. Mr. Smith asserted an alibi defense. The complaining witness—Jesse Cubbison—stated that Mr. Smith hit him on the arm with a golf club, breaking his wrist. A doctor who treated him stated that the fracture observed in an x-ray could have been a chronic condition from an earlier, healed fracture Mr. Cubbison had sustained. Was Mr. Smith entitled to a lesser included offense instruction for fourth degree assault when the jury could have found that although the appellant was present and committed an assault, the golf club was not a deadly weapon and therefore Mr. Smith was not guilty of second degree assault? (Assignment of Error 1).
- 2. Was the golf club used as a deadly weapon under the facts and circumstances of this case? (Assignment of Error 2).
- 3. The United States and Washington Constitutions require the State prove all essential elements of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. To convict Mr. Smith of second degree assault, the State

had to prove he inflicted substantial bodily injury on Mr. Cubbison. Must Mr. Smith's conviction for second degree assault be reversed and dismissed where the evidence did not establish that Mr. Cubbison suffered any impairment or loss of any bodily function, or that his injury was even caused by the incident on the night in question? (Assignment of Error 3).

- 4. A deputy sheriff testified that the complaining witness—the only witness who testified regarding the identity of the person who hit him with a golf club—stated that the witness was "very forthcoming with the information" and "looked me right in the eye as I asked him specific questions." Was this improper opinion testimony on the credibly of Mr. Smith's sole accuser? (Assignment of Error 4).
- 5. Did the prosecutor commit reversible error by improperly eliciting opinion testimony from an officer witness as to the credibility of the state's key witness? (Assignments of Error 5 and 6).
- 6. Where the prosecutor, during rebuttal closing argument, made a "missing witness" argument, was Mr. Smith prejudiced by the state impermissibly shifting the burden of proof onto the defense? (Assignments of Error 5 and 6).
- 7. Where defense counsel (1) failed to object to improper opinion testimony from an officer witness and (2) where defense counsel

failed to object to the State's impermissible shifting of the burden of proof during closing argument, was appellant prejudiced by ineffective assistance of counsel? (Assignment of Error 7).

8. Even if no single error merits reversal, the cumulative effect of trial errors may render a trial fundamentally unfair under the Fourteenth Amendment. Does cumulative error require reversal of Mr. Smith's conviction? (Assignment of Error 8).

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Jesse Cubbison lived in a trailer with his aunt and his thengirlfriend Jennifer Phrampus. Report of Proceedings¹ (RP) at 4-5.

Tabitha Larson and a male identified as "Rocky" had also lived in the
trailer, but Ms. Larson had moved out of the trailer approximately a week
prior to the incident, which occurred May 28, 2015. 2RP at 5, 16. Mr.
Cubbison stated that there was a dispute over missing property that
belonged to Ms. Larson. 2RP at 16, 17. Rocky moved out of the trailer a
day before the incident. 2RP at 5.

On May 28, 2015 at approximately 11:30 p.m., Ms. Phrampus heard a noise and saw two people outside the trailer near Mr. Cubbison's pickup truck. 2RP at 6. She went outside and ran down a ramp from the

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings consists of two volumes, designated as follows: 1RP-(8/10/15); (8/17/15);(10/9/15); (10/12/15)(sentencing); and 2RP-(9/9/15)(jury trial).

front door of the trailer and yelled for Mr. Cubbison, who was sleeping. 2RP at 6. Mr. Cubbison went outside and saw a man he identified as Kevin McMahan push Ms. Phrampus to the ground. 2RP at 6, 11. He stated that he had prior conflict with Mr. McMahan, who used to date Ms. Phrampus. 2RP at 7.

Mr. Cubbison stated that he also saw a Toyota minivan parked outside that belonged to Rocky, and saw Rocky and Ms. Larson sitting in the van. 2RP at 7. He said that neither of them got out of the vehicle. 2RP at 17. He testified that he saw a man he identified as Curtis Smith whom he had known since Mr. Smith was in his late teens or early 20sbreaking the passenger side portion of the front window of his truck with a golf club. 2RP at 8, 12, 14. After he saw Mr. McMahan shoving Ms. Phrampus, Mr. Cubbison said that Mr. McMahan came toward him with an axe handle in a threatening manner. 2RP at 11. Mr. Cubbison went back inside the trailer and Mr. McMahan followed him up the ramp and came five feet into the trailer. 2RP at 11. Mr. Cubbison retrieved a piece of exhaust pipe that was inside the trailer, causing Mr. McMahan to retreat. 2RP at 11. Mr. Cubbison followed him down the ramp and Mr. McMahan came toward him a second time wielding the axe handle. 2RP at 11. Mr. Cubbison said that while on the ramp he slipped and fell onto his back, but was unsure if he hit his head on the ramp handrail or if he was hit with the axe handle. 2RP at 11. He stated that when he was on his back, the man he identified as Curtis Smith swung the golf club at him and he reached up to block the club. 2RP at 12. Mr. Cubbison claimed that the impact from the club "broke [his] wrist." 2RP at 12. He stated that Mr. McMahan and Mr. Smith then left in the van. 2RP at 12-13.

Mr. Cubbison, who was sometimes employed as commercial fisherman, was treated by Dr. Kevin Mierzejewski following the incident. 2RP at 13, 35. Mr. Cubbison acknowledged that he had preexisting numbness in two of his fingers on his left hand from previous injuries he sustained to his wrist prior to the incident on May 28, and that he had injured or fractured his wrist on previous occasions. 2RP at 19. Mr. Cubbison testified that he continued to work as a car mechanic after the incident. 2RP at 19.

Dr. Mierzejewski treated Mr. Cubbison for an injury described as an abrasion on the dorsal surface of the left wrist accompanied by swelling of the area. 2RP at 36. He stated that his initial impression was that he had a fracture to his radius, but was unable to conclusively to say that the fracture was a fresh break or if it was from a pre-existing injury. Dr. Mierzejewski stated:

My initial impression on that night was that he had a fracture of his radius, which is the bone . . . You have two bones in your forearm, the radius which is on the outside. And it looked to me that he

what a fracture of his distal radius[,] so closer to his wrist than his elbow at that night. The official report later determined that that was most likely a chronic type injury.

2RP at 37.

Dr. Mierzejewski stated that he prescribed pain medication for Mr. Cubbison and his arm was placed in a splint, and he was directed to follow up with an orthopedic doctor. 2RP at 39. He stated that his conclusion was that "the x-ray looked like [the fracture to the distal radius] appeared chronic." 2RP at 39. Dr. Mierzejewski explained that if a fracture is chronic it may still appear as a fresh injury in an x-ray. He stated:

[I]f the x-ray—you know, obviously it there's a big crack in the bone and the person's having pain at that point, then it's—the suspicion is quite high. It doesn't go so much to chronicity of an injury. And so it is possible that you can heal in a different way that looks like a fracture but is—but the age is longer than—than you know, an incident that happened that night.

2RP at 38.

Dr. Mierzejewski reiterated that at the time of treatment he was not completely sure that it was a fracture, and that what he saw was a possible fracture could have been an older, preexisting injury that had healed in way to look like a fracture. 2RP at 41-42. He stated that numbness that Mr. Cubbison experienced in his fingers was an indication of prior injury to his hand or wrist and that the distal radius fracture seen in the x-ray looked like an old healed injury or fracture. 2RP at 41-42.

Mr. Cubbison was given a splint and directed to follow up with an orthopedic doctor within about a week but there was no testimony that he had done so. 2RP at 39.

Grays Harbor County Deputy Sheriff Brian Rydman was dispatched following the report of the fight at the Wildwood Trailer Park in Ocosta, Washington, which is located near Aberdeen. 2RP at 53. He interviewed several people at the scene, including Mr. Cubbison. When questioned at trial, the prosecutor asked the deputy about his interview of Mr. Cubbison:

Q: And during that statement, you indicated you have training and almost 25 years of experience in taking statements from people and making observations. Describe for us what you observed about Mr. Cubbison outwardly while he was giving the statement to you.

A: Well, he was very forthcoming with the information. He—you know, he was very coherent about what had happened. He was able to answer my questions. He didn't hesitate as far as . . . Sometimes if people don't want to become quite forthright with their information, they'll tend to kind of talk in circles. He was able to answer the questions. he looked me right in the eye as I asked specific questions of him.

Q: Okay.

A: So... [h]e didn't seem to hold anything—anything back.
2RP at 56-57.

Jayne Peterson has been friends with Mr. Smith for approximately 18 years. 2RP at 70. She moved into a large house in April, 2015, and

Mr. Smith and his girlfriend Karissa Steuermann were helping her fix up the house by having a "painting party." 2RP at 70-71. The painting party took place during an approximately 48 hour period on May 27 and May 28, 2015. 2RP at 72-73, 77-78. Mr. Smith and Ms. Steuermann were staying in a motor home parked near Ms. Peterson's new house. 2RP at 77, 80.

Mr. Smith's witnesses stated that he was at the painting party the whole time and did not leave, and that he could not have been at Mr. Cubbison's trailer at the time of the incident. Ms. Peterson stated that Mr. Smith was with her at her house during that time, together with his girlfriend Ms. Steuermann and another man named Norm Mussetter. 2RP at 72-73, 76.

Ms. Steuermann stated that she and Mr. Smith were at a two day painting party at Ms. Peterson's house in Grayland on May 28, 2015, and that Mr. Smith was with her during the entire time and did not go to Mr. Cubbison's residence in Ocosta during that time. 2RP at 81-82. The prosecutor asked—without defense objection—why she did not "come forward" with the information that he was with her in Grayland the night of May 28. 2RP at 83.

Ms. Peterson suspected that Mr. Cubbison was exaggerating his injuries. 2RP at 73. She said that she saw him on a daily or near-daily

basis following the incident and that she did not see him wear a splint on his wrist except one occasion when she saw him at the courthouse. 2RP at 74. She stated that when he was at the courthouse he "had a splint thing on his wrist," but later the same day when she left the building and was waiting outside she saw him leave the building and noticed that he was not wearing the splint. 2RP at 74. Ms. Peterson also stated that she saw him "scrapping" a vehicle and chopping wood after the incident and he did not appear to be in pain. 2RP at 74. "There was nothing wrong with him," she stated. 2RP at 74.

Mr. Smith was charged by the Grays Harbor County Prosecutor's Office by information with assault in the second degree and third degree malicious mischief. The state alleged that Mr. Smith was armed with "a deadly weapon, to wit: a golf club" at the time of the assault. Clerk's Papers (CP) 1-3; RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) and (c); Appendix A.

The matter came on for jury trial on September 9, 2015, the Honorable David Edwards presiding. 2RP at 3-127. The jury found Mr. Smith guilty of second degree assault as charged.

Mr. Smith's counsel proposed and argued in favor of a lesser included offense instruction for fourth degree assault. CP 58; 2RP 88. Defense counsel argued that whether the golf club was a deadly weapon was a disputed issue:

[t]he doctor, who indicated that he wasn't—he wasn't able to say for certain that this was—that this fracture was caused by this incident, that it could have been an old healed fracture that he saw and observed as being—as being the fracture for this one. Also, the other testimony of Mr. Cubbison indicating that he was still working, that it wasn't a prolonged time period that this injury took place. The other testimony from the other people as well indicating that they hadn't seen him after this incident with a splint or any sort of bandages or anything on the wound..

2RP at 88.

The trial court denied the requested instruction, finding that it was uncontroverted that Mr. Cubbison was attacked with a golf club and that he said his arm was fractured, and that the court did not see "under that scenario, a jury could conclude that Mr. Smith could be guilty of Fourth Degree Assault." 2RP at 89-90.

The jury acquitted Mr. Smith of malicious mischief, but found him guilty of second degree assault. 2RP at 124-25; CP 68, 69.

Mr. Smith had an offender score of "9" and a standard range of 63 to 84 months. 1RP (10/12/15) at 6, 7. The defense recommended a sentence of 63 months. CP 80. The State argued in its sentencing memorandum for 84 months. CP 72-78. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 84 months. RP (10/12/15) at 9; CP 87.

Timely notice of appeal was filed October 12, 2015. CP 98. This appeal follows

D. ARGUMENT

1. MR. SMITH WAS ENTITLED TO A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION FOR FOURTH DEGREE ASSAULT.

Mr. Smith asserted an alibi defense; Jayne Peterson stated that he was at her new house for an around-the-clock painting party on May 27 and 28, 2015. 2RP at 73. Mr. Cubbison testified, on the other hand, that Mr. Smith and three other people came to his residence between 11:00 p.m. and midnight on May 28, 2015 and Mr. Smith assaulted him with a golf club. 2RP at 12. The facts presented in the case could allow a jury to find the club that Mr. Smith is alleged to have used to hit him was not a deadly weapon. Accordingly, defense counsel requested a lesser included offense instruction for fourth degree assault. CP 56-59. The trial court refused to give the instructions, however, finding that the State's evidence showed that the assault was committed by using a golf club, and therefore "[h]ow can that be anything other than Second Degree Assault?" 2RP at 89. The court's ruling constitutes error that requires reversal of the conviction.

The right to have a lesser included offense instruction presented to the jury is statutory. *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 544-45, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). The pertinent statute provides, "[i]n all other cases the defendant may be found guilty of an offense the commission of which is necessarily included within that which he is charged in the indictment or information." RCW

10.61.006. The right to have a lesser included offense instruction presented to the jury is also part and parcel of the right of the accused to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case. *State v. Warden*, 133 Wn.2d 559, 564, 947 P.2d 708 (1997); *Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d at 546, 548.

Either party is entitled to request a lesser included offense instruction. State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 725, 728, 953 P.2d 450 (1998). A two-part test is used to determine when such an instruction is warranted: "First, each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged [legal prong]. Second, the evidence . . . must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed [factual prong]." State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). The analysis under Workman "is applied to the offenses as charged and prosecuted, rather than to the offenses as they broadly appear in statute." Berlin , 133 Wn.2d at 548; State v. Lyon, 96 Wn. App. 447, 450-51, 979 P.2d 926 (1999).

The various assault statutes proscribe but one offense, namely, assault. *State v. Garcia*, 146 Wn. App. 821, 193 P.3d 181, 185 (2008), review denied, 166 Wn.2d 1009, 208 P.3d 1125 (2009). Mr. Smith was charged with second degree assault under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) and (c). CP 1. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c) provides:

A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree: ...

(c) Assaults another with a deadly weapon;

RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c); Appendix A.

Assault is divided into degrees ranging from the most serious, first-degree assault (a class A felony) to fourth-degree assault (a gross misdemeanor). CP 1-2; RCW 9A.36.011; RCW 9A.36.021; RCW 9A.36.031; RCW 9A.36.041. Fourth-degree assault is a lesser degree of second-degree assault.

The fourth degree assault statute provides:

- (1) A person is guilty of assault in the fourth degree if, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first, second, or third degree, or custodial assault, he or she assaults another.
- (2) Assault in the fourth degree is a gross misdemeanor.

RCW 9A.36.041; Appendix A.

The instruction defining assault provided to the jury states:

An assault is an intentional touching or striking of another person that is harmful or offense regardless of whether any physical injury is done to the person. A touching or striking is offensive if the touching or striking would offend an ordinary person who is not unduly sensitive.

CP 64 (Instruction 8).

Mr. Smith's request for a fourth degree assault instruction met the "legal" prong of the *Workman* test. The only difference between a fourth degree assault and a second degree assault "as charged and prosecuted," was the additional element of a deadly weapon for the second degree assault. Therefore, every element of the lesser offense, fourth degree assault, is a necessary element of the greater offense, second degree assault. This satisfies the "legal" prong of *Workman*.

The defense request for a fourth degree assault instruction also

met the "factual" prong of Workman. The factual component is satisfied when the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 563, 947 P.2d 708 (1997)). In other words, instructions should be given when evidence raises an inference that the lesser offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense. In determining whether the "factual" prong is met, "some evidence must be presented which affirmatively establishes the defendant's theory on the lesser included offense." State v. Harris, 121 Wn.2d 317, 320, 849 P.2d 1216 (1993). The evidence must be assessed under the "factual" prong in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. State v. Cole, 74 Wn. App. 571, 578-80, 874 P.2d 878, rev. denied, 125 Wn.2d 1012 (1994); State v. Bergeson, 64 Wn. App. 366, 367, 824 P.2d 515 (1992); State v. Hanson, 59 Wn. App. 651, 656 & n.6, 800 P.2d 1124 (1990). In addition, instruction on fourth degree assault is proper when the record supports "an inference that the assault was only committed with a non-deadly weapon." State v. Winings, 125 Wn. App. 75, 87, 107 P.3d 141 (2005).

The defense satisfied the "factual" prong because there was affirmative evidence that Mr. Smith only committed a fourth degree assault. Specifically, given the instruction and evidence at trial, the jury could have reasonably concluded that, under the circumstances, Mr. Cubbison did not sustain substantial bodily harm, or could have concluded that the golf club was not readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily injury.

Instruction 10, which defined "deadly weapon" for purposes of the second degree assault charge, provides:

Deadly weapon means any weapon, device, instrument, substance, or article, which under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted to be used, or threatened to be used, is readily capable of causing death or substantial bodily harm.

CP 65.

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