#### NO. 48138-3-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

CURTIS M. SMITH, Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DAVID EDWARDS, JUDGE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KATHERINE L. SVOBODA Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

BY: <u>s/ Lindsey A. Millar</u> LINDSEY A. MILLAR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #46165

Grays Harbor County Prosecutor's Office Grays Harbor County Courthouse 102 W. Broadway, Rm. 102 Montesano, Washington 98563 Telephone: (360) 249-3951

# <u>TABLES</u>

# **

Other Authorities	

Karl B. Tegland, 5	Wash. Prac., J	Evidence Law	and Practice § 3	301.7 (6th
ed. 2016)				

#### **<u>RESPONDENT'S COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>**

The Appellant, Curtis Smith, was charged by Information filed in Grays Harbor County Superior Court on July 22, 2015, with Assault in the Second Degree and Malicious Mischief in the Third Degree. Clerk's Papers (CP) 1-2; Designation of Clerk's Papers (DCP) 2. In count one, he was charged under RCW 9A.36.021(1) in the alternative: a) that he intentionally assaulted Jesse Cubbison and thereby recklessly inflicted substantial bodily harm and/or c) that he did assault Jesse Cubbison with a deadly weapon, to wit: a golf club. CP 1-2. The day before trial, on September 8, 2015, defense counsel filed an Omnibus Response asserting an alibi defense and listing three witnesses along with their addresses and phone numbers. CP 29-30; DCP 2. This information had not been available to the State or law enforcement prior to September 4, 2015. CP 50. While all three alibi witnesses were allegedly awaiting contact from the State, after much effort Deputy Rydman was only able to locate Norm Mussetter, although Mussetter refused to give a written statement after being unable to even identify the month in which he was alibiing the Appellant. CP 34, 51.

Trial proceeded on September 9, 2015, at which time the jury heard testimony from Jesse Cubbison, James Bolin, Dr. Kevin Mierzejewski, and Deputy Brian Rydman for the State as well as Jayne Peterson and Karissa Steurmann for the defense. Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) 1-2. The facts elicited at trial were as follows:

In May of 2015, Jesse Cubbison lived with his girlfriend, Jennifer Phrampus, a man named Rocky, and a woman named Tabitha Larson in unit number 14 at a trailer park in Ocosta. VRP 4-5. However, after problems arose, Ms. Larson moved out around approximately May 21, 2015, while Rocky moved out on May 27, 2015. VRP 5. The next night, on May 28, 2015, Ms. Phrampus heard something outside and ran outside down the ramp of the trailer after seeing two people trying to get into Mr. Cubbison's truck. VRP 6. She was followed soon after by Mr. Cubbison, who saw Ms. Larson sitting in the back seat and Rocky sitting in the front seat of what Mr. Cubbison recognized as Rocky's white minivan. VRP 7. Mr. Cubbison also saw two more people, Kevin McMahan and the Appellant, Curtis Smith, outside of the van. VRP 6. Mr. Cubbison had known McMahan, Ms. Phrampus' ex-boyfriend with whom he had prior confrontations, for at least 10 years. VRP 7-8. He had also been acquainted with the Appellant for approximately 20 years and considered him neither a friend nor an enemy. VRP 15. Mr. Cubbison saw McMahan push Ms. Phrampus to the ground and observed the Appellant off to the

right of the ramp near the passenger side of Mr. Cubbison's truck smashing the windshield with a golf club. VRP 6; Exhibit 5. The porch light was on and the ramp, the cab of his truck, and the side of the van were illuminated. VRP 7. After pushing down Ms. Phrampus, McMahan came at Mr. Cubbison with a yellow axe handle. VRP 11. Mr. Cubbison ran back inside the trailer and McMahan followed until Mr. Cubbison was able to chase him out with a piece of exhaust pipe. VRP 11. Mr. Cubbison yelled for help and exited the trailer only to again have McMahan come at him with the axe handle. VRP 11. Mr. Cubbison back peddled and slipped, hitting his head. VRP 11.

As McMahan continued to swing at Mr. Cubbison with the axe handle, the Appellant left the side of the truck, ran up with the golf club and, lifting it up over his head and then down, swung at Mr. Cubbison as he lay on the ground. VRP 12, 20. Mr. Cubbison put up his left arm to block the blow and the club struck him in the wrist. VRP 20.While he had previously sustained some work-related injury to other areas of his left wrist and did experience some chronic numbness in two fingers, upon being struck with the club Mr. Cubbison immediately heard a lot of popping, felt a very high level of pain, and his wrist visibly swelled up. VRP 19-20. As Mr. Cubbison yelled for someone to call police, McMahan and the Appellant ran back to the van and fled the scene. VRP 13. Ms. Larson and Rocky never exited the van. VRP 13.

James Bolin, who lived next door to Mr. Cubbison and Ms. Phrampus and managed the trailer park, heard his dogs barking and looked outside to see someone swinging a metallic object at the front of Mr. Cubbison's truck. VRP 24, 28. He also saw two silhouettes grappling back and forth and a white minivan parked in front of the trailer. VRP 24. Upon opening his window, he heard a voice he recognized as Mr. Cubbison's yell for someone to call 911. VRP 24-25. Mr. Bolin retrieved his phone and came back outside as he was contacting the police, at which time he heard two of the van doors shut before the van fled the scene. VRP 25.

Deputy Brian Rydman arrived a little less than 15 minutes after receiving the call. VRP 13, 53. He immediately noticed a male he identified as Mr. Cubbison sitting down and holding his left wrist. VRP 54. Questioning about the deputy's time at the scene proceeded as follows:

- Q: Right. So I guess we'll go in order. So first you spoke with Mr. Cubbison before sort of walking the scene and making some observations, is that right?
- A: Correct.
- Q: Okay. And without getting into what was said, physically what observations were you able to make about Mr. Cubbison?

- A: He was appeared to be in quite an amount of pain, was holding his left wrist, left arm, in a position close to his body. He had a bump or a lump I believe on the right side of his forehead area. I mean he was sweating. And he was able to talk to me, but I could tell that he was in a very significant amount of pain.
- Q: Okay. Now, did you take a statement from Mr. Cubbison?
- A: Yes, I did.
- Q: And during that statement, you indicated you have training and almost 25 years of experience in taking statements from people and making observations.
   Describe for us what you observed about Mr. Cubbison outwardly while he was giving the statement to you.
- A: Well, he was very forthcoming with the information. He – you know, he was very coherent about what had happened. He was able to answer my questions. He didn't hesitate as far as...sometimes if people don't want to become quite forthright with their information, they'll tend to kind of talk in circles. He was able to answer the questions. He looked me right in the eye as I asked specific questions of him.
- Q: Okay.

A: So...he didn't seem to hold anything – anything back.

VRP 56-57. After describing his interaction with Mr. Cubbison, Deputy Rydman described the scene, which he observed to have dirt and gravel which was disturbed as though an altercation had occurred. VRP 57. The deputy also described Mr. Cubbison's smashed truck windshield, which still had shards of glass on the body panel. VRP 58. Aid arrived shortly after and tended to Mr. Cubbison, at which time Deputy Rydman took a photo of him before he was transported to the hospital. VRP 13, 59; Exhibit 3.

Once at the hospital, Mr. Cubbison was seen by Dr. Kevin Mierzejewski, who determined that an x-ray was necessary after noting an abrasion to the dorsal surface of the upside area of his wrist as well as swelling, limitation, and pain around the area. VRP 36-37. After reviewing the x-ray, the doctor was not certain whether or not the injury was a fracture, but he did place Mr. Cubbison in a splint, prescribe pain medication, and referred him to an orthopedist. VRP 39. Mr. Cubbison reported that while at the hospital he continued to experience the same pain he felt upon being struck with the golf club and that that he continued to experience that pain in his wrist to this day. VRP 21.

During cross, redirect, and recross of Deputy Rydman, which occurred just before testimony for the defense began, the deputy was asked about his efforts to locate and interview Norm Mussetter, Jayne Peterson, and Karissa Steuerman (defense alibi witnesses). VRP 63-69. The defense focused its cross on the fact that the attempted interviews did not take place until September 8, 2015, the day before trial. VRP 63-65. While the deputy tried to explain during cross examination that, as noted above, contact information for those individuals was not provided by

6

defense until days before trial (VRP 64-65), he was able to do so fully during redirect. VRP 67. Deputy Rydman then went on to explain the lengths to which he went to contact Mussetter, Peterson, and Steuermann upon finally receiving their information, reporting that he was only able to track down Mussetter but that Mussetter would not put a statement in writing. VRP 67-68.

Peterson testified first for the defense. After being led with a general time frame of the "end of May" for the alleged alibi by the questioning of defense counsel and over the State's objection. Peterson testified at the beginning of direct examination that the Appellant was "pretty much staying there" with her during that time and that he had helped paint her house. VRP 71-72. She described the Appellant as a very good friend that she had known for 18 years. VRP 77. As to the time frame during which he was there painting, she testified, "It was like, I'd say a couple days. You know." VRP 71. A few moments later, Peterson then described the alleged "big painting party" as being "at least 24 hours." VRP 72. After additional prodding by defense counsel, Peterson stated, "Like around the middle of – middle of May, the end of...I don't know. Like the end of May." VRP 71. After even more prodding later in her testimony, she eventually produced dates of "May 27 or May 28."

7

VRP 73. When questioned during cross examination about why she would remember this specific date, Peterson fumbled through an explanation which involved the rationale of "just because that was when we had our party." VRP 75. When asked if the painting occurred overnight, Peterson claimed that it had. VRP 76. When asked when exactly she had been painting with the Appellant, Peterson first said "Curtis was in and out" only to say moments later that he was "hanging out with [her] the whole time" and she had eyes on him during the whole 24 hours. VRP 76-77. It was between all of this conflicting testimony that Peterson alleged seeing Mr. Cubbison, "[p]robably every day" and that while she had seen him with a splint on one occasion, she never saw him with one on any other occasion. VRP 74. She opined that he was not in any pain and that there was nothing wrong with him. VRP 74.

Karissa Steuermann also referred to a "painting party," first saying that it was "all night" and then saying it was a "couple days." VRP 80. She too claimed that the Appellant was "never" out of her presence during that time. VRP 81-82. But unlike Peterson, who testified that only herself, Norm Mussetter, the Appellant, and Steuermann were ever at her house (VRP 78), Steuermann reported that there were "a lot of people in and out." VRP 81. Her testimony during cross examination included the

#### following:

- Q: Ms. Steuermann, did you ever come forward and tell the police or report the fact that you had been with your boyfriend on the night in question?
- A: I have never been encountered by the police at all.
- Q: Okay. So no?
- A: No. No.
- Q: And you said that you've been dating him now for three years? Is that right?
- A: Yeah, about, almost.
- Q: And you were also made aware of what had apparently happened that night, is that right, the allegations I suppose?
- A: Yeah.
- Q: And so when you heard that your boyfriend of three years was being accused of this, is it accurate that you chose not to come forward to say that he was with you?
- A: When did I choose...
- Q: Did you ever do that?
- A: No, I did not.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty for Assault in the Second

Degree. CP 68. This appeal follows.

#### RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

### 1. <u>Appellant was not entitled to an instruction on an inferior</u> <u>degree of the charged offense when there was no affirmative</u> <u>evidence that he committed only that offense to the exclusion of</u> <u>the charged one.</u>

At trial, the defense requested an instruction for Assault in the Fourth Degree based on the doctor's testimony that he was not certain if the image on the x-ray was a new fracture or an old injury. VRP 88. The defense argued that under the substantial injury alternative of Assault in the Second Degree, the jury could find based on the evidence that only an Assault in the Fourth Degree had occurred, but acknowledged that under the alternative means of a deadly weapon the defense could not make the same argument. VRP 89.

Alleged errors in a trial court's jury instructions are reviewed de novo. *State v. Tamalini*, 134 Wn.2d 725, 729, 953 P.2d 450 (1998). While the two-prong *Workman* test is the appropriate one for a lesser included offense instruction, different criteria are used for determining whether an offense of an inferior degree should be instructed on. *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454-55, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)). While only the legal components of these tests differ, our courts have held that an instruction on an inferior degree offense such as Assault in the Fourth Degree is properly administered when: 1) the statutes for both the charged offense and the proposed inferior degree offense 'proscribe but the one offense,' 2) the information charges an offense that is divided into degrees, and the proposed offense is an inferior degree of the charged offense, and 3) there is evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior offense. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 454. The State concedes that the legal aspects of this assessment are met, making the focus of the inquiry in this case completely factual.

However, to satisfy the factual prong, there must be "a factual showing more particularized than [the sufficient evidence already] required for other jury instructions." *Id.* at 455. Specifically, *substantial* evidence in the record must support a rational inference that the defendant committed *only* the lesser included or inferior degree offense to the exclusion of the greater one. *Id.* at 461(citing *State v. McClam*, 69 Wn. App. 885, 850 P.2d 1377, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1021, 863 P.2d 1353 (1993)). To submit an instruction to the jury without having first met this requirement would constitute prejudicial error. *Id.* at 455 (citing *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 191, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)). The purpose of the factual portion of the analysis, therefore, is to ensure that the requisite

level of evidence exists to support the giving of the requested instruction. *Id.* The record to be considered includes all of the evidence presented by either party, viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. *Id.* at 456. Yet, evidence supporting inferences that the defendant is either guilty or not guilty of the charged offense will not support the giving of a lesser offense instruction. *State v. Bergeson*, 64 Wn. App. 366, 369, 824 P.2d 515 (1992) (citing e.g., *State v. Jackson*, 70 Wn.2d 498, 503, 424 P.2d 313 (1967). In other words, "the evidence must affirmatively establish the defendant's theory of the case—it is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt." *Fernandez-Medina* 141 Wn.2d at 456 (citing *State v. Fowler*, 114 Wn.2d 59, 67, 785 P.2d 808 (1990), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Blair*, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991)).

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